S.B. 66 132nd General Assembly (As Introduced)

Sens. Eklund and Tavares, Schiavoni, Terhar, Thomas, Coley, Williams

BILL SUMMARY

- Expands the overriding purposes of felony sentencing to include, in addition to the currently stated purposes, rehabilitating the offender.
- Removes the one-year minimum that currently applies when a court sentences an
 offender to a community control sanction for a fourth or fifth degree felony under
 the presumption for community control sanctions and expressly authorizes the court
 to impose a combination of community control sanctions under the provision.
- Provides that a court may impose a new term of up to six months in a communitybased correctional facility or jail as a penalty for a felony offender who violates a community control sanction condition.
- Modifies the manner in which a sentencing court calculates the confinement credit by which the prison term of a felony offender sentenced to prison must be reduced.
- Modifies the criteria that a person must satisfy to be eligible for intervention in lieu
 of conviction (ILC), changes the phrasing of a provision that specifies what a court
 must do after a hearing held to determine whether to grant ILC, and gives a court an
 additional sanction that it may impose when a person granted ILC fails to comply
 with an ILC term or condition.
- Expands the categories of offenders who are "eligible offenders" for purposes of Ohio's Conviction Record Sealing Law.
- Modifies the procedures for the Adult Parole Authority to grant a final release or terminate post-release control.

• Modifies the criteria for considering a prison term sanction for a post-release control violation and reduces the maximum length of any such sanction.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Rehabilitation as a purpose of felony sentencing	2
Presumptive fourth or fifth degree felony community control sanction – removal of	
minimum term	3
Community-based correctional facility term or jail term as sanction for violation of felony	
community control sanction	4
Calculation and use of felony confinement credit	5
Calculation of credit	5
Use of credit in reducing prison term	6
Intervention in lieu of conviction	
Introduction	
Eligibility criteria	7
Criteria modified by the bill	7
Criteria not changed by the bill	8
Hearing determination	8
Sanction for failure to satisfy term or condition of intervention plan	8
Eligibility for conviction record sealing	9
Eligible offender	9
Grant of final release/termination of post-release control	10
Grant of final release	
Termination of period of post-release control	11
Restoration of rights and privileges	11
Prison term as sanction for violation of post-release control sanction	

CONTENT AND OPERATION

The bill modifies numerous aspects of the law governing sentencing, corrections, and conviction record sealing.

Rehabilitation as a purpose of felony sentencing

The bill expands the overriding purposes of felony sentencing stated in current law to include, in addition to the currently stated purposes, rehabilitating the offender. The purposes currently specified are protecting the public from future crime by the offender and others and punishing the offender using the minimum sanctions that the court determines accomplish those purposes without imposing an unnecessary burden on state or local government resources.¹

¹ R.C. 2929.11(A) and (B); also see 2929.13(B) to (E) and 2967.28(E), and 2925.01(CC), 2929.12(A), and 2967.19(B), not in the bill.

Existing law, unchanged by the bill, links the overriding purposes to felony sentencing in several ways. First, it requires a court that sentences an offender for a felony to be guided by the overriding purposes. Second, it specifies that, to achieve those purposes, the court must consider the need for incapacitating the offender, deterring the offender and others from future crime, rehabilitating the offender, and making restitution to the victim of the offense, the public, or both. Third, it requires that a felony sentence be reasonably calculated to achieve those purposes, commensurate with and not demeaning to the seriousness of the offender's conduct and its impact upon the victim, and consistent with sentences imposed for similar crimes committed by similar offenders.² Under the bill, the rehabilitation expansion to the overriding purposes will be within the scope of these provisions.

Presumptive fourth or fifth degree felony community control sanction – removal of minimum term

The bill removes the one-year minimum that currently applies when a court sentences an offender to a community control sanction for a fourth or fifth degree felony under the existing presumption for community control sanctions and expressly authorizes the court to impose a combination of community control sanctions under the provision.³

Currently under the presumption, subject to an exception not further described in this analysis,⁴ if an offender is convicted of a fourth or fifth degree felony that is not an "offense of violence" or that is a "qualifying assault offense" (the terms in quotation marks are defined terms), the court must sentence the offender to a community control sanction of at least one year's duration if all of the following apply:⁵

- (1) The offender previously has not been convicted of a felony offense;
- (2) The most serious charge against the offender at the time of sentencing is a fourth or fifth degree felony;
- (3) The offender previously has not been convicted of a misdemeanor offense of violence that the offender committed within two years prior to the offense for which sentence is being imposed;

² R.C. 2929.11(A) and (B).

³ R.C. 2929.13(B)(1)(a).

⁴ R.C. 2929.13(B)(1)(b) and (c).

⁵ R.C. 2929.13(B)(1)(a) and (c).

(4) If the court requested the Department of Rehabilitation and Correction (DRC) to provide specified information regarding one or more community control sanctions of at least one year's duration that are available for persons sentenced by the court, the Department provided the information within 45 days.

If the presumption does not apply, in determining whether to impose a prison term as a sanction, the sentencing court must comply with the purposes and principles of sentencing.⁶ The bill removes the requirement that the sentence under this provision be at least one year's duration and expressly authorizes the court to impose a combination of community control sanctions under the provision.⁷

Community-based correctional facility term or jail term as sanction for violation of felony community control sanction

The bill provides that a court may impose a new term of up to six months in a community-based correctional facility or jail as a penalty for a felony offender who violates a community control sanction condition.⁸

Currently, if a felony offender who is sentenced to a community control sanction (i.e., a residential sanction, a nonresidential sanction, or a financial sanction) violates the conditions of the sanction or if the offender violates a law or leaves the state without the permission of the court or the offender's probation officer, the sentencing court may impose upon the violator one or more of the three specified penalties. The penalties are a longer time under the same sanction if the total time under the sanctions does not exceed the five-year limit for community control sanctions, a more restrictive community control sanction, or a prison term. A prison term imposed upon a violator under this provision must be within the range of prison terms available for the offense for which the violated sanction was imposed and may not exceed the prison term the court specified to the offender, from that range, at the sentencing hearing. The court may reduce the longer period of time that the offender is required to spend under the longer sanction, the more restrictive sanction, or a prison term by the time the offender successfully spent under the sanction that initially was imposed.

The bill specifies that the more restrictive sanctions that a sentencing court may impose as a penalty on a violator of a condition of a community control sanction include, but are not limited to, a new term of up to six months in a community-based

⁶ R.C. 2929.13(B)(2).

⁷ R.C. 2929.13(B)(1)(a).

⁸ R.C. 2929.15(B)(1)(b) and 2929.16(A)(6).

⁹ R.C. 2929.15(B)(1) and (3).

correctional facility that serves the county or in a jail. Any term so imposed will be in addition to any community control sanction previously imposed on the offender. As under existing law with respect to a jail term imposed as a community control sanction, if the offense is a fourth or fifth degree felony that is not an offense of violence, the court may specify that it prefers that the offender serve the term in a minimum security jail.¹⁰

Calculation and use of felony confinement credit

Calculation of credit

The bill modifies the manner in which a sentencing court calculates the confinement credit by which the prison term of a felony offender sentenced to prison must be reduced.¹¹

Currently, if a court sentencing an offender for a felony determines that a prison term is necessary or required, the court must perform several specified tasks. One of the tasks is to determine, notify the offender of, and include in the sentencing entry the number of days that the offender has been confined for any reason arising out of the offense for which the offender is being sentenced and by which DRC must reduce the stated prison term under. The court's calculation may not include the number of days, if any, that the offender previously served in DRC's custody arising out of the offense for which the prisoner was convicted and sentenced. The bill modifies these provisions to require the court's determination, notification, and entry to be of the *total* number of days, *including the sentencing date but excluding conveyance time*, that the offender has been confined for any reason arising out of the offense for which the offender is being sentenced.¹²

Under existing law, unchanged by the bill, in making the determination described above, the court must consider the arguments of the parties and conduct a hearing if one is requested. The court retains continuing jurisdiction to correct any error not previously raised at sentencing in making the determination and provides a mechanism for the offender to request a correction in an error in the determination. If the court changes the number of days in its determination or redetermination, the court must cause the entry granting that change to be delivered to DRC without delay. An

-5-

¹² R.C. 2929.19(B)(2)(g)(i).



Legislative Service Commission

¹⁰ R.C. 2929.15(B)(1)(b) and 2929.16(A)(6) and (D).

¹¹ R.C. 2929.19(B)(2)(g)(i) and (v).

inaccurate determination is not grounds for setting aside the offender's conviction or sentence and does not render the sentence void or voidable.¹³

Use of credit in reducing prison term

Under existing law, unchanged by the bill, DRC must reduce the stated prison term, the minimum and maximum term, or the parole eligibility date, whichever is applicable, of a prisoner in its custody by the total number of days that the prisoner previously served in DRC's custody arising out of the offense for which the prisoner was convicted and sentenced and by the total number of days that the prisoner was otherwise confined for any reason arising out of that offense, including several expressly stated types of confinement. The expressly stated types of confinement are confinement in a juvenile facility, confinement in lieu of bail while awaiting trial, confinement for examination to determine competence to stand trial or sanity, and confinement while awaiting transportation to prison, as determined by the sentencing court. The bill specifies that, in determining the total days of local confinement for purposes of this reduction, DRC must rely upon the latest journal entry of the sentencing court as described above.

Intervention in lieu of conviction

The bill modifies the criteria that a person must satisfy to be eligible for intervention in lieu of conviction (ILC), changes the phrasing of a provision that specifies what a court must do after a hearing held to determine whether to grant ILC, and gives a court an additional sanction that it may impose when a person granted ILC fails to comply with an ILC term or condition.¹⁶

Introduction

Under current law, a person charged with a criminal offense may request ILC if either drug or alcohol usage by the offender was a factor leading to the criminal offense, or at the time of committing that offense, the person had a mental illness, was a person with intellectual disability, or was a victim of a "trafficking in persons" offense and the mental illness, intellectual disability status, or trafficking in persons victimization was a factor leading to the person's criminal behavior. The person must satisfy specified criteria (see below) to be eligible for ILC. The request must include a waiver of the

¹⁶ R.C. 2951.041.



¹³ R.C. 2967.19(B)(2)(g)(ii) to (iv).

¹⁴ R.C. 2967.191, not in the bill.

¹⁵ R.C. 2929.19(B)(2)(g)(v).

person's right to a speedy trial, the preliminary hearing, the time period within which the grand jury may consider an indictment against the person, and arraignment, unless the hearing, indictment, or arraignment has already occurred. If the court makes certain findings at a hearing, it may grant the person ILC. If the court grants ILC, the person enters a guilty plea, the court accepts the person's waiver of the trial-related rights described above, the court stays all criminal proceedings and imposes intervention terms and conditions, and the person remains under court supervision while undergoing intervention. If the person successfully completes the plan of intervention, the criminal proceeding is dismissed; if not, the court must impose a sanction (see below).¹⁷

Eligibility criteria

Currently, there are ten eligibility criteria that a person must satisfy to be eligible for ILC, and the bill modifies six of them.¹⁸

Criteria modified by the bill

The six eligibility criteria modified by the bill, and the changes it makes in those criteria, are as follows:¹⁹

- (1) The bill limits the first criterion to specify simply that the offender previously has not been convicted of any felony offense of violence. Currently, that criterion specifies that the offender previously has not been convicted of a felony offense of violence or previously has been convicted of any felony that is not an offense of violence and the prosecuting attorney recommends that the offender be found eligible for ILC participation, previously has not been through ILC or any similar regimen, and is charged with a felony for which the court, upon conviction, would impose a community control sanction on the offender or with a misdemeanor.
- (2) Under the bill, a second criterion specifies that the offense is not a first, second, or third degree felony, is not an offense of violence, is not "aggravated vehicular homicide" or "aggravated vehicular assault," is not state OVI or a violation of a substantially similar municipal ordinance, and is not an offense for which a mandatory prison term is required. Currently, that criterion also requires that the offense is not an offense for which a mandatory term of local incarceration or a mandatory term of imprisonment in a jail is required.

¹⁷ R.C. 2951.041.

¹⁸ R.C. 2951.041(B).

¹⁹ R.C. 2951.041(B)(1) to (5) and (B)(8).

- (3) Under the bill, a third criterion specifies that the person is not charged with "corrupting another with drugs," "illegal manufacture of drugs," "illegal cultivation of marihuana," or "illegal administration or distribution of anabolic steroids," is not charged with a first, second, third, or fourth degree felony controlled substance trafficking offense under R.C. 2925.03, and is not charged with a first or second degree felony controlled substance possession offense under R.C. 2925.11. Currently, that criterion also requires that the person is not charged with a third degree felony controlled substance possession offense under R.C. 2925.11.
- (4) Under the bill, a fourth criterion specifies that, if the person is charged with "tampering with drugs," the alleged violation did not result in physical harm to any person. Currently, that criterion also requires that, if the person is charged with that offense, the person has not previously been treated for drug abuse.
- (5) Under the bill, a fifth criterion and sixth criterion are modified to refer to a determination of the person's *program eligibility* for ILC, instead of referring to the person's *eligibility* for ILC. The bill does not otherwise change either criterion.

Criteria not changed by the bill

The four eligibility criteria not modified by the bill relate to the likelihood of whether ILC would demean the seriousness of the offense, the age, disability, and occupation of the victim, the person's willingness to comply with all terms and conditions imposed by the court, and whether the charge would result in sanctions under the Commercial Driver's License Law.²⁰

Hearing determination

The bill changes the phrasing of a provision that specifies what a court must do at the conclusion of a hearing held to determine whether to grant ILC. Under the bill, at the conclusion of the hearing, the court must enter its determination as to whether the person will be granted ILC. Currently, the provision states that, at the conclusion of the hearing, the court must enter its determination as to whether the person is eligible for ILC and as to whether to grant the person's request.²¹

Sanction for failure to satisfy term or condition of intervention plan

The bill gives a court an additional sanction that it may impose when it determines at a hearing that a person who has been granted ILC has failed to comply

²⁰ R.C. 2951.041(B)(6), (7), (9), and (10).

²¹ R.C. 2951.041(C).

with a term or condition imposed as part of the ILC intervention plan. Under the bill, the court must either continue the offender on ILC or enter a finding of guilty and impose an appropriate sanction under the Felony Sentencing Law. Currently, the court's only option is to enter a finding of guilty and impose an appropriate sanction under the Felony Sentencing Law. Retained without change from existing law, if the court sentences the person to a prison term, after consulting with DRC regarding the availability of services, it may order continued court-supervised activity and treatment of the person during the term and may consider judicial release.

Under existing law, unchanged by the bill, if a court grants a person's request for ILC and the person fails to comply with any term or condition imposed as part of the intervention plan, the supervising authority for the offender promptly must advise the court of the failure, and the court must hold the hearing to determine whether the offender failed to comply with any term or condition imposed of the plan.²²

Eligibility for conviction record sealing

The bill expands the categories of offenders who are "eligible offenders" for purposes of Ohio's Conviction Record Sealing Law. ²⁴ That Law prescribes a mechanism pursuant to which an "eligible offender" (see below) may apply for the sealing of the offender's record of conviction.

Eligible offender

Under the bill, in addition to the category of offenders who currently are "eligible offenders" for purposes of the Conviction Record Sealing Law, the term also includes, regardless of the number of convictions, anyone who has been convicted of one or more offenses in Ohio or any other jurisdiction, if all of the offenses in this state are fourth or fifth degree felonies and none of those offenses are an "offense of violence" (a defined term) or a felony sex offense and all of the offenses in another jurisdiction, if committed in Ohio, would be fourth or fifth degree felonies and none of those offenses would be an offense of violence or a felony sex offense.²⁵

Currently, for purposes of the Conviction Record Sealing Law "eligible offenders" includes only a person who has been convicted of an offense in Ohio or any other jurisdiction and who has not more than one felony conviction, not more than two

²² R.C. 2951.041(F).

²³ R.C. 2953.31.

²⁴ R.C. 2953.31 to 2953.36.

²⁵ R.C. 2953.31(A)(1)(a).

misdemeanor convictions, or not more than one felony conviction and one misdemeanor conviction in Ohio or any other jurisdiction. When two or more convictions result from or are connected with the same act or result from offenses committed at the same time, they are counted as one conviction. When two or three convictions result from the same charging document, from the same plea of guilty, or from the same official proceeding, and result from related criminal acts committed within a three-month period but do not result from the same act or from offenses committed at the same time, they are counted as one conviction, provided that a court may decide that it is not in the public interest for the two or three convictions to be counted as one conviction. For purposes of, and except as otherwise described in this paragraph, a conviction for a minor misdemeanor, or for a specified state or municipal traffic law violation generally is not a conviction. However, a conviction for certain specified state or municipal traffic law violations, including state or municipal OVI, is considered a conviction.²⁶

Grant of final release/termination of post-release control

The bill modifies the procedures for the Adult Parole Authority (the APA) to grant a final release or terminate post-release control.²⁷

Grant of final release

Under the bill, when a paroled prisoner, other than a prisoner in the shock incarceration program, has faithfully performed the conditions and obligations of the prisoner's parole and has obeyed the APA's rules and regulations that apply to the prisoner, the APA may grant a final release and thereupon must issue to the prisoner a certificate of final release that serves as the minutes of the APA. However, the APA may not grant a final release earlier than one year after the prisoner is released from the institution on parole, or for a prisoner whose sentence is life imprisonment, earlier than five years after the prisoner is released from the institution on parole. The final release certificate of a parolee serves as the official minutes of the APA, and it must consider those certificates as its official minutes.

Current law is similar, except that a final release may be granted only on recommendation of the Superintendent of Parole Supervision and the APA is expressly required to enter a final release upon its minutes.²⁸

²⁶ R.C. 2953.31(A).

²⁷ R.C. 2967.16.

²⁸ R.C. 2967.16(A), (D), and (E).

Termination of period of post-release control

Under the bill, when a prisoner who has been released under a period of post-release control after serving the prisoner's prison term has faithfully performed the conditions and obligations of the prisoner's post-release control sanctions and has obeyed the APA's rules and regulations that apply to the prisoner or has the period of post-release control terminated by a court, the APA may terminate the period of post-release control and issue to the released prisoner a certificate of termination, which serves as the minutes of the APA. However, the APA may not terminate post-release control for a prisoner whose period of post-release control is mandatory earlier than one year after the prisoner is released from the institution under post-release control and may not terminate post-release control for a prisoner whose sentence is life imprisonment earlier than five years after the prisoner is released from the institution under post-release control. The APA must classify the termination as favorable or unfavorable depending on the offender's conduct and compliance with the conditions of supervision.

Current law is similar, except that it refers to a grant of a final release instead of termination of post-release control, a final release may be granted only on recommendation of the Superintendent of Parole Supervision, and the APA is expressly required to enter a final release upon its minutes.²⁹

Restoration of rights and privileges

Under the bill, a prisoner who has been granted a final release or termination of post-release control by the APA is restored to the rights and privileges forfeited by a conviction. Current law is the same, except that it does not include the reference to termination of post-release control (since the comparable procedure under existing law is designated a final release).³⁰

Prison term as sanction for violation of post-release control sanction

The bill modifies the criteria for considering a prison term sanction for a post-release control violation and reduces the maximum length of any such sanction.³¹

Under the bill, when the Parole Board or a court of common pleas making joint decisions with the Board regarding post-release control decisions holds a hearing to determine whether a person on post-release control has violated a post-release sanction



²⁹ R.C. 2967.16(B) and (E).

³⁰ R.C. 2967.16(C)(1)(b).

³¹ R.C. 2967.28(F)(3).

or a condition applicable to the person and determines that the person has violated a sanction or condition, the Board or court must consider a prison term as a sanction imposed for the violation when the violation involves a deadly weapon or dangerous ordnance, physical harm or attempted serious physical harm to a person, or sexual misconduct. Unless the person's stated prison term was reduced under the law regarding intensive program prisons, the period of a prison term imposed as a sanction under this provision may not exceed 90 days, and the maximum cumulative prison term for all violations under this provision may not exceed one-half of the stated prison term originally imposed upon the offender.³²

Current law is similar, except that it includes as an additional consideration for a court in determining whether to impose a prison term as a sanction for the violation that the person committed repeated violations of post-release control sanctions and that it provides that the period of a prison term imposed as a sanction under this provision may not exceed nine months.

Under existing law, unchanged by the bill, the Parole Board or a court of common pleas making joint decisions with the Board regarding post-release control decisions may hold a hearing on any alleged violation by a person of a post-release control sanction or a condition imposed upon the person. If after the hearing the Board or court finds that the person violated the sanction or condition, it may increase the duration of the person's post-release control up to the maximum duration of post-release control authorized by law for the person's offense or impose a more restrictive post-release control sanction. When appropriate, the Board or court may impose as a post-release control sanction a residential sanction that includes a prison term.³³

HISTORY ACTION DATE Introduced 02-21-17 S0066-I-132.docx/ks

³² R.C. 2967.28(F)(3)

³³ R.C. 2967.28(F)(3).